2005

Harlan Ashby v. Board of Education, South Sanpete School District : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to U.C.A. §§ 78-2-2(4), having been transferred the case by order of the Supreme Court of Utah.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether the Court erred in granting a directed verdict / dismissing the case, particularly given that this was done before the plaintiff had presented all his witnesses and evidence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is correctness. *See Grossen v. DeWitt*, 982 P.2d 581, 284 (Utah 1999); *Sorenson v. Kennecott-Utah Copper Corp.*, 873 P.2d 1141, 1144 (Utah Ct.App.1994).

PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUE

At trial Plaintiff's counsel opposed and argued against the motion for directed verdict/dismissal. *See* R. at 306 (Transcript - hereafter cited simply as "Tr."), p. 260-270.

RELEVANT STATUTES / RULES

Utah R. Civ. P. 41(b) provides as follows:

. . . After the plaintiff, in an action tried by the court without a jury, has completed the presentation of his evidence the defendant . . . may move for a dismissal on the ground that upon the facts and the law the plaintiff has shown no right to relief. The court as trier of the facts may then determine them and render judgment against the plaintiff or may decline to render any judgment until the close of all the evidence.

If the court renders judgment on the merits against the plaintiff, the court shall make findings as provided in Rule 52(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case came on for bench trial in Manti, Utah, before Hon. David Mower, district judge in the Sixth District Court on April 12 and 13th, 2005. The Plaintiff/Appellant Harlan Ashby, alleged that the South Sanpete School District breached its teaching contract with him by firing him, and the School District countered that Mr. Ashby's firing was justified in that he had lied about having a Master's Degree. After Plaintiff had put on only two of its witnesses (he had several more witnesses subpoenaed and waiting to testify), the Court granted the Defendant's motion for a directed verdict and dismissed the case. *See* R. at 294 ("Judgment and Order on Directed Verdict") copy attached herewith in the Appendix.

The Court summarized and explained its basis for granting the Directed Verdict, as follows:

Plaintiff was hired as a special education teacher by the South Sanpete School District ("District") in 1976. Plaintiff had a Bachelor of Arts degree from BYU plus approximately 90 additional credit hours of education.

In 1976, the District had in place a salary schedule composed of lanes and steps. Placement in a salary lane was based upon education. Placement in a salary step was based upon teaching experience. Higher salary lanes and steps represented higher salaries.

When Plaintiff was hired he was properly placed in salary lane 3, the lane reserved for teachers with a bachelor's degree plus 55 or more credit hours of additional education.

Plaintiff signed employment contracts for each year of his employment with the District. The employment contracts reflected Plaintiff's lane and step. Plaintiff received his employment contracts in the mail. The received contracts were filled out

and signed by the District Business Administrator. Plaintiff signed his contracts and returned them to the District.

In 1986, the District added three additional lanes to the salary schedule. The result was as follows: Lane 1 - Bachelor's Degree, Lane 2 - Bachelor's degree plus 35 additional credit hours; Lane 3 - Bachelor's Degree plus 55 additional credit hours or professional certificate; Lane 4 - Master's Degree; Lane 5 - Master's Degree plus 45 additional credit hours; Lane 6 - Doctorate Degree.

On December 2, 1986, then District Superintendent Scott W. Bean sent a Memorandum to Professional Staff on the subject of the 1986-1987 Contracts. The memorandum accompanied two copies of the 1986-1987 contract and a teaching salary schedule. The memorandum asked staff to check the amount, step, and lane on the contract, and if correct, sign and return one copy of the contract.

Plaintiff received and signed employment contracts with the District that had Plaintiff on lane 4 of the salary schedule for the following school years: 1986-1987; 1987-1988; 1988-1989; 1989-1990; 1990-1991; 1991-1992; 1992-1993; 1993-1994; 1994-1995; 1995-1996. Plaintiff did not notify the District of the error or that he should have been placed on lane 3. Plaintiff's placement on lane 4 resulted in Plaintiff being overpaid in all of the above-listed school years except for the 1986-1987 school year.

Plaintiff admitted that he misrepresented to District employees that he had a Master's Degree.

In the Spring of 1995 or the Fall of 1996, the District requested that Plaintiff provide his school transcripts evidencing that he had a Master's Degree. Plaintiff testified that he did not give an honest answer in response to this request. He testified that he did not say he did not have a Master's Degree. Plaintiff finally admitted that he did not have a Master's Degree in June or July, 1997.

On August 13, 1997, Plaintiff was suspended without pay as a result of his claim to have Master's Degree and his continual misrepresentation when he was asked to produce transcripts to substantiate this claim.

On August 28, 1997, Plaintiff was terminated for cause. The specific reason for his termination, listed in the termination letter, were as follows: "1-Conduct which violates the criminal law of this state or of the United States; 2-Conduct which violates any established rule, regulation, policy, or directive; 3. Theft; 4. Dishonesty or falsification of any information supplied to the school district."

District policy, GCPD Teacher Code of Ethics, Principle II, Commitment to the Profession, states that the educator shall not misrepresent his/her professional qualifications.

Plaintiff filed his Complaint on or about August 20, 2001. . . . The Breach of Contract cause of action alleges that plaintiff was notified by letter that he was suspended without pay for the specific reason that he claimed to have a Master's Degree and continued to misrepresent that fact during the years he was employed by the District. The Complaint alleges that those charges were falsely made.

. . .

The reasons given for Plaintiff's termination are true. Specifically, reason number four in Plaintiff's termination letter have been conclusively established, namely, "Dishonesty or falsification of any information supplied to the school district." Furthermore, it was incumbent on the Plaintiff to speak out and not remain silent that his contracts placed Plaintiff on lane 4 rather than lane 3.

Therefore, there are no additional facts that could be presented through additional testimony or documentary evidence which would make it possible for Plaintiff to make out the first cause of action of the Complaint. . . .

Id.

The Court only allowed the Plaintiff, Mr. Ashby, and one other witness to testify. ~~Mr. Ashby~~ testified as follows:

1. When he was hired in 1976 by the South Sanpete School District ("SSSD"), he had a bachelor's degree plus 90 semester hours. Tr. at 25.
2. When he filled out the application for the SSSD job, he accurately and truthfully put down that he had a bachelor's degree. Tr. at 27-28.
3. This application, which indicated he had a bachelors degree, and which did not indicate he had a masters degree, was admitted into evidence without objection as Exhibit 44. *Id.*
4. With the application, Mr. Ashby also submitted his resume, which also accurately

reflected he had a bachelor's degree, not a master's degree, and a copy of this resume was also admitted into evidence without objection as Exhibit 50. Tr. at 32-33.

5. Furthermore, it was undisputed at trial that Mr. Ashby's employment file, kept and maintained by SSSD from the time Mr. Ashby was hired in 1976, until the present time, accurately reflects his education as follows: "Education, 1968, BA Degree." Tr. at 45.

6. Mr. Ashby also testified that the Lane he was originally placed in, Lane 3, was referred to at the time of his hiring as "the Master's track," and that he was placed on that lane as an incentive to sign. Tr. at 34-35, 38. Mr. Ashby was told by his principal not to discuss openly his education status and salary lane, since it could create hard feelings with other SSSD employees. Tr. at 115-119.

7. Further, when the Lane system was altered ten years after his hire, in 1986, to expand the number of Lanes, he was placed by SSSD in Lane 4, the Master's track; Mr. Ashby did not request or select Lane 4 – that was done by SSSD. Tr. 42-44.

8. Mr. Ashby's position, based on the clarity of his BA credentials at his hiring, as reflected in his application, resume, and employment record; and based on the fact he was placed in what was known as the "master's track" as an incentive for him to sign-on with SSSD back in 1976, was that when the modified system was adopted in 1986, SSSD kept him on the master's track while SSSD knew full well exactly what education he had: a Bachelor's degree plus ninety hours. Tr. at 27-28, 32-33, 34-35, 38, 42 -44, 45, 78-80, 86.

9. In 1995 there was a falling out between SSSD and Mr. Ashby which occurred which SSSD failed a "Chapter I" audit by the Utah State Office of State Education. "Chapter I" is a

program through which SSSD would receive extra funds for a remedial reading program. Tr. at 43-50.

10. Mr. Ashby was listed by SSSD as the teacher doing the Chapter I remedial reading program teaching, but in fact, in 1995, he was not assigned by SSSD to do Chapter I remedial reading, and was thus the Chapter I teacher in name only. Tr. at 50-51.

11. When the audit was announced, Mr. Ashby was approached by his principal, who was concerned about how the audit would go, since SSSD had Mr. Ashby listed as the Chapter I teacher when in fact he wasn't assigned to actually do the program, and the principal attempted to coach Mr. Ashby so that he would identify the Title I children and indicate falsely that he was working with them separately because of their special needs. Tr. at 50-54.

12. Mr. Ashby tried to accommodate his principal's desires and concerns but was unwilling to lie to the auditors, and SSSD failed the audit and the principal and SSSD superintendent were angry with and blamed Mr. Ashby for the failed audit and attempted to terminate him at that time, but Mr. Ashby responded by requesting a copy of the audit and that he would appeal his termination, after which SSSD and the principal changed course and did not terminate him at that time, at which time the superintendent stated to the principal to put Mr. Ashby on probation, and that the superintendent would show the principal how to terminate him. Tr. At 50-69.

13. At the end of that same year, 1995, or the beginning of the next year, 1996, the secretary for the superintendent began to question Mr. Ashby regarding his educational credentials vis-a-vis his salary lane. Tr. at 78.

14. Believing that the superintendent was simply trying to find a pretext for which to fire

him, Mr. Ashby did not respond directly, but told her “all my documentation [on] everything is in my file,” and so he thought that would be clear – the file contained his application and resume showing the BA credentials only. Tr. at 78-80.

15. In 1997, when Mr. Ashby received his proposed contract, it listed him on Lane 2 rather than Lane 4 where he had been. He went in to discuss the superintendent’s secretary regarding the salary lane issue, but she was not there, so he talked with the SSSD financial secretary. He told him that the secretary had been inquiring about the master’s degree issue, and that he wanted to straighten the issue out, and he indicated he did not have a master’s degree. Tr. at 85. Mr. Ashby then spoke with the superintendent, and indicated that he did not have a master’s degree, but that Mr. Ashby had believed that SSSD knew this from the beginning and had placed him on the “master’s track” due to the large number of hours he had post-bachelors, and as an incentive for him signing on with the district. Tr. at 86. The superintendent indicated that the school board may want to adjust him to lane 3. Instead, Mr. Ashby later learned he was fired. Tr. at 87-88.

16. Mr. Ashby did not deceive SSSD regarding his degree status; his SSSD employment file, resume, and application, show his degree status accurately, all of which remained in the possession of SSSD throughout the entire term of his employment. His firing was the result of a vendetta formed after the failed Chapter I audit, as was explicitly revealed by the superintendent, and SSSD used the master’s degree issue as a false excuse to fire him, even though SSSD knew all along he in fact did not have a master’s degree, as evidenced by its own employment file for Mr. Ashby. Tr. 118-119; 25-33, 50-69.

17. At trial, after Mr. Ashby’s and one other witness’s testimony, defense counsel moved

for directed verdict and the court indicated that it was going to grant the motion, even through the Plaintiff had additional witnesses to present; the Court indicated that nothing that could be presented could overcome its decision that the matter should be dismissed, but the Court allowed Plaintiff's counsel to proffer the additional testimony. Tr. at 275-278.

18. This testimony was proffered as follows:

A. That the superintendent would admit that he terminated Mr. Ashby because he was upset with him and dissatisfied with his services stemming from the Chapter I incident and because Mr. Ashby was sick, rather than because of the master's degree/falsehood issue; that he made an agreement with Mr. Ashby to resolve the master's degree issue by moving him down a step, but that the superintendent abandoned this agreement and fired Mr. Ashby instead; and that other employees of SSSD have been found to be on the wrong salary track/lane and that SSSD has not fired them; and that sometimes SSSD does put people on the salary track/lane that does not correspond with their educational record and that that is OK and sometimes happens, and that if it causes problems it can be corrected without firing. Tr. at 278-279.

B. That an SSSD employee would testify that she was in fact in charge of the Chapter I program during the year the audit was performed, and that she would corroborate Mr. Ashby's testimony regarding what happened with respect to the audit. Tr. at 279.

C. That Mr. Ashby's principal would testify that Mr. Ashby did a great job teaching after he was retained as an employee for the district after the audit debacle, and that SSSD was surprised by this and was hoping he would fail, as SSSD was looking for a way to get rid of Mr. Ashby. Tr. at 279.

D. That Mr. Ashby's principal at the time of the Chapter I audit would corroborate Mr. Ashby's testimony surrounding the Chapter I issues, and specifically the superintendant's statement to the principal that he would put Mr. Ashby on probation and find a way to terminate him." Tr. at 279.

E. That two other SSSD would corroborate Mr. Ashby's testimony regarding the Chapter I related incidents. *Id.*

F. That the principal at the time Mr. Ashby was hired would corroborate Mr. Ashby's testimony regarding how he was hired and how he was truthful, and how it was known that Mr. Ashby did not have a master's degree, and that Mr. Ashby was told not to tell others about how he was put on the master's track. *Id.*

G. That Mr. Ashby's principal during the Chapter I audit would corroborate Mr. Ashby's testimony that school officials asked him to mislead the auditors, and that the superintendent berated Mr. Ashby for the audit failure and indicated he would be put on probation and that they would find a way to terminate him. Tr. at 280.

H. That the superintendent's secretary and other SSSD employees would admit that Mr. Ashby never said he had a master's degree and that he directed them to inspect his employment file, and that while he may have been equivocal about the issue, he never directly represented that he had a master's degree, but instead directed them to his file. *Id.*

I. That an SSSD employee involved in Mr. Ashby's hiring would testify it was a practice of small school districts to offer people to be on higher salary tracks to get them to come to small districts, and that he was not deceived and that Mr. Ashby told him correctly of his actual

credentials. *Id.*

18. The Court ruled that even if the witnesses testified as proffered, he would still grant a directed verdict, and thus that his ruling stood, and the motion was granted and the case dismissed. Tr. at 281.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

It was error to grant a motion for directed verdict/dismissal in the middle of the Plaintiff's case.

An examination of the evidence, including the evidence which Plaintiff was not allowed to put on but which was presented by proffer, reveals conflicting evidence that elicits doubts which, if resolved in Plaintiff's favor, preclude such an early determination that he had no cause of action.

ARGUMENTS

It was error to grant a motion for directed verdict and grant dismissal in the middle of the Plaintiff's case.

The Utah Supreme Court treats appellate review of motions for directed verdict, which have been made and ruled upon in bench trials, as actually constituting review of what should substantively be considered motions for dismissal under Utah R. Civ. P. 41(b). *See Grossen v. DeWitt*, 982 P.2d 581, 284 (Utah 1999).

Utah R. Civ. P. 41(b) provides as follows:

. . . After the plaintiff, in an action tried by the court without a jury, has completed

the presentation of his evidence the defendant . . . may move for a dismissal on the ground that upon the facts and the law the plaintiff has shown no right to relief. The court as trier of the facts may then determine them and render judgment against the plaintiff or may decline to render any judgment until the close of all the evidence. If the court renders judgment on the merits against the plaintiff, the court shall make findings as provided in Rule 52(a).

It is clear from the plain language of this Rule that a motion under Rule 41 is properly considered *only after the plaintiff has completed the presentation of his evidence*. The motion and ruling in this case came in the middle of plaintiff's case, after only two witnesses. Yet the Court ruled on the motion and granted dismissal despite plaintiff's having witnesses who, according to the proffer made by Plaintiff's counsel, would have presented facts wholly supporting Plaintiff's case and stripping away the foundation of SSSD's accusation, which formed the basis of the Court's ruling, that it was misled by Plaintiff's misrepresentations/omissions regarding his educational status. The court simply determined, after only two witnesses, that the Defense's accusation was true, and that it would not be possible for the Court to be convinced otherwise. This is not the process contemplated or allowed by Rule 41 ("after the plaintiff . . . has completed the presentation of his evidence").

Various courts throughout the country have addressed the issue of whether a court may dismiss a plaintiff's case at some point prior to the close of the plaintiff's case, and the consensus is that it may, but only where it is apparent that there is a complete absence of any question justifying continuation of the trial. *See, e.g., Best v. District of Columbia*, 291 U.S. 411, 415, 54 S.Ct. 487, 489, 78 L.Ed. 882 (1933). If there remains any doubt as to the facts or any conflicting inferences which may be clarified with additional testimony and evidence, an early dismissal is inappropriate; where uncertainty arises either from a conflict of testimony or because the facts being undisputed, fair-minded men may honestly draw different conclusions from them, the question requires that the

trial proceed at least to the conclusion of the plaintiff's case. *See, e.g., id.; see e.g., also, Richmond & Danville Railroad Co. v. Powers*, 149 U.S. 43, 45, 13 S.Ct. 748, 37 L.Ed. 642; *Texas & Pacific Railway Co. v. Harvey*, 228 U.S. 319, 324, 33 S.Ct. 518, 57 L.Ed. 852; *Gunning v. Cooley*, 281 U.S. 90, 94, 50 S.Ct. 231, 74 L.Ed. 720. If a doubt exists, a premature dismissal is inappropriate. *See, e.g.,* 291 U.S. at 415.

Prior to the close of plaintiff's case, the standard for consideration of dismissal is even higher than if a motion therefore were considered at the conventional, rules-based time (the close of the plaintiff's case); as discussed in the cases provided in the previous paragraph, is appropriate only if after resolving all doubts in plaintiff's favor, it is clear that no cause of action exists. *See id.; see also Illinois Power & Light Corporation v. Hurley* (C.C.A.) 49 F.(2d) 681, 684; *Stuthman v. United States* (D.C.) 67 F.(2d) 521, 523.

In this case, resolving all doubts in plaintiff's favor, it cannot be said that no cause of action exists. The Plaintiff's position was that SSSD knew of his true educational credentials, and indeed SSSD's own employee file on Mr. Ashby contained his application, resume, and its own file marking/indication stating that Mr. Ashby had a bachelor's degree, and not indicating that he had a master's degree. His equivocalness and any claimed misrepresentation by omission are countered – and doubts regarding whether he may indeed have a cause of action – by his testimony that he was told not to discuss his educational credentials vis-a-vis his salary track/lane, after being put on the “master's track” when hired, as an incentive to come to this small, rural district. All doubt cannot be erased that the district knew of his bachelor degree status and used that false issue as a mere pretense for firing him due to blame wrongfully assigned to him for the district's failed Chapter I audit.

The District Court based its directed verdict on the ruling that Mr. Ashby's own testimony established conclusively that he was deceptive regarding having a master's degree. Mr. Ashby's

testimony, however, refutes this fact, and indicates the contrary – that when he was questioned regarding this issue, he directed the questioner to his employee file, where the true facts regarding his only having a bachelor's degree were found.

Resolving all doubts in favor of Mr. Ashby, it cannot be unqualifiedly said he had no cause of action for breach of contract, and the directed verdict/dismissal was thus error – the additional witnesses should have been allowed, and the issue considered only upon completion of the plaintiff's case.

Note, it would be inappropriate to apply a clearly erroneous standard to the Court's rulings in this case, which would treat those rulings as if they were final and conclusive findings of fact worthy of this more deferential standard; the District Court did not wait until after the close of the Plaintiff's case and thus position itself to consider the matter fully on the basis of all Plaintiff's evidence, per the dictates of Rule 41(b), and therefore it did not fully and finally adjudicate the facts per Rule 52(a) on the merits and its rulings should not be reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard.

The Court cut off the Plaintiff mid-stream, and thus his ruling should be given less deference than a clearly erroneous standard – the review should be stricter given that the Plaintiff was not allowed to complete its case. Either the “no doubt” standard articulated above should be applied, *see analysis supra*, or alternatively, the principles set forth in the directed verdict standard could be fairly applied. Under the directed verdict principles and standard, the evidence must be examined in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, and if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence and in the inferences to be drawn therefrom that would support a judgment in favor of the losing party, the dismissal cannot be sustained. *See Management Comm. of Graystone Pine Homeowners Ass'n ex rel. Owners of Condominiums v. Graystone Pines, Inc.*, 652 P.2d 896 (Utah 1992). Further, the court must not weigh or determine the preponderance of the evidence. *See Finlayson*

v. Brady, 121 Utah 204, 240 P.2d 491 (Utah 1952). Finally, under these standards, the court should resolve every controverted fact in the non-moving party's favor. *Boskovich v. Utah Constr. Co.*, 123 Utah 387, 259 P.2d 885 (Utah 1953).

An examination of the evidence, including the evidence which Plaintiff was not allowed to put on but which was presented by proffer, in the light most favorable to the losing party, reveals a reasonable basis in the evidence and in the inferences to be drawn therefrom, that would support a judgment in favor of the Plaintiff/Appellant. Therefore the dismissal imposed in the middle of Plaintiff's case in this matter should not be upheld. *See Virginia S. v. Salt Lake Care Ctr.*, 741 P.2d 969, 971 (Utah Ct. App.1987).

Instead of applying any kind of deferential standard, the trial court in this case, pronounced that the defendant's reason for firing the Plaintiff was true, and that "there are no additional facts that could be presented through additional testimony or documentary evidence which would make it possible for Plaintiff to make out" his breach of contract claim. An examination of the entirety of the evidence presented and proffered, however, belies this conclusion; it cannot be correctly concluded that, when all this presented and proffered evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the losing party, including all inference drawn therefrom – in favor of the plaintiff – that the Plaintiff could not make out his claim. The evidence viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Ashby is as follows:

– When Mr. Ashby filled out the application for the SSSD job, he accurately and truthfully put down that he had a bachelor's degree. With the application, Mr. Ashby also submitted his resume, which also accurately reflected he had a bachelor's degree, not a master's degree. Furthermore, it was undisputed at trial that Mr. Ashby's employment file, kept and maintained by SSSD from the time Mr. Ashby was hired in 1976, until the present time, accurately reflects his education as follows: "Education, 1968, BA Degree." Mr. Ashby also testified that the Lane he was

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