2005

# Harlan Ashby vs. Board of Education, South Sanpete School District : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## Summary of Argument

Ashby's admission of dishonesty warranted dismissal of his case because it negated an essential element of his breach of contract claim, namely that he was fired based on a false allegation that he lied about his credentials. Because this was not a jury proceeding, the district court properly weighed Ashby's testimony, ultimately finding that his admission defeated his breach of contract claim because it showed that the allegation supporting his termination was true, that he had in fact lied about his credentials. Because the evidence in Ashby's proffer was irrelevant to his limited claim that his termination was based on a false allegation, the district court correctly concluded that Ashby could not prevail breach of contract claim even if he were allowed to finish his case in chief. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the district court's dismissal of this case.

Although the dispositive motion here was labeled a motion for directed verdict, it was in substance a motion to dismiss since this proceeding was a bench trial. Accordingly, the authority pertaining to directed verdict cited by Ashby does not apply. This Court should reject Ashby's invitation to weigh anew his trial testimony because the

---

<sup>5</sup>Ashby embellishes his proffer on appeal. He states that the superintendent would have testified that one of the real reasons for firing Ashby was that Ashby was sick. Aplt. Brf. at 17. But the record reflects that Ashby did not mention sickness in his proffer of the superintendent's testimony. Tr. 278-89.

findings the district court made with respect to the live testimony it heard are entitled to deference on review. Furthermore, Ashby has not challenged the sufficiency of the district court's findings or demonstrated that the findings are clearly erroneous; in fact, he has argued that the clearly erroneous standard should not apply, based on inapposite directed verdict cases.

## **Argument**

**Ashby's admission of dishonesty warranted dismissal because it negated a necessary element of his breach of contract claim**

The district court correctly determined that Ashby's admission of dishonesty warranted dismissal because that admission negated an essential element of his breach of contract claim. The complaint only alleged that Ashby's employment was terminated based on a false allegation that he had misrepresented to the School District that he had a master's degree when he only had a bachelor's degree. R. 1-2. By admitting that he had in fact misrepresented his degree status, Ashby negated the essential claim that he was terminated based on a false allegation. Because the allegation of dishonesty was not false, by Ashby's own admission, the district court correctly concluded that no breach of contract occurred.

Although the district court and both parties characterized the dispositive motion as one for directed verdict, the motion was in substance a motion to dismiss under Utah R.

Civ. P. 41(b). Grossen v. DeWitt, 1999 UT App 167, ¶7, 982 P.2d 581 (stating that “[i]n the context of a bench trial . . . the directed verdict’s procedural counterpart is a motion to dismiss”). This court will review a motion thus mislabeled as a motion to dismiss. Id. at ¶8. Accordingly, the argument portion of this brief will refer to the School District’s motion as a motion to dismiss. Much of the authority cited by Ashby deals with directed verdict cases, where the trial court must not invade the jury’s role as fact-finder. These cases are of little help here where the judge acted as finder of fact.

The district court’s findings that Ashby misrepresented his degree status are entitled to a deferential standard on review. Although this Court reviews the legal conclusions supporting the granting of a motion to dismiss for correctness, the underlying findings of fact to which the law is applied are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. Grossen, 1999 UT App 167 at ¶5. This more deferential standard is applied to findings of fact that are based on either oral or documentary evidence *presented to the trial court*. Id. Ashby’s testimony and numerous documents were presented to the district court in its capacity as fact-finder. Ashby testified that he panicked and failed to give an honest answer when asked by the School District for his master’s degree credentials. Tr. 78. Ashby further testified that he implied over the years to other teachers that he had a master’s degree. Tr. 76. Ashby admitted signing ten successive annual contracts without correcting the improper master’s degree lane designation on each contract. Tr. 184-85. The contracts themselves were admitted into evidence. Ex. 10-19; Tr. 184-85. And Ashby testified that several School District employees asked him for his master’s degree transcripts but he never stated that he did not have a master’s degree. Tr. 78, 195-97. In addition to this evidence of Ashby’s dishonesty, the district court also heard the self-serving portions of Ashby’s testimony cited in the opening brief.

Nevertheless, as fact-finder, the district court weighed Ashby's credibility and found that Ashby was dishonest in representing his degree status to the School District. Because Ashby does not properly challenge the sufficiency of this underlying finding, this Court should assume that the record supports the finding and review only the accuracy of the district court's conclusions of law. Grossen, 982 P.2d 581 at ¶10 (quotation marks and citation omitted) (stating that "because appellants do not challenge the court's findings, let alone demonstrate they are clearly erroneous, we assume that the record supports the findings of the trial court").

Ashby now claims that he did not deceive the School District regarding his degree status but this argument fails because it is an improper attempt to revisit the district court's factual findings without marshaling the evidence. See Chen v. Stewart, 2004 UT 82, ¶76, 100 P.3d 1177 (stating that in order to challenge a trial court's finding of fact, an appellant "must first marshal all the evidence in support of the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below") (quotation marks and citation omitted). This Court should reject Ashby's argument to the extent it asks this court to improperly weigh portions of his testimony against other portions of his testimony.

Given the district court's finding that Ashby misrepresented his degree status, the only legal question before this court, then, is whether the proffered<sup>6</sup> evidence overcame

---

<sup>6</sup>Although the district court announced a tentative ruling on the motion to dismiss *before* plaintiff made a proffer of his remaining witnesses, the record is clear that the court allowed plaintiff to make a proffer and then considered the proffer before making a final ruling, even commenting on specific points raised in the proffer. Tr. 280-81. After considering the proffer, the court announced that its tentative ruling would stand because nothing in the proffer would have overcome Ashby's admission of dishonesty. Tr. 281.

Ashby's admission of dishonesty.<sup>7</sup> This is a purely legal question since an appellate court is in "as good a position to review the proffer as was the trial court, as no assessment of witness credibility occurred below." Hamby v. Jacobson, 769 P.2d 273, 278 (Utah 1989).

Even accepting as true everything in Ashby's proffer, nothing in the proffer is relevant to Ashby's claim that his termination was based on the false allegation that he misrepresented his credentials. Ashby's honesty with various individuals is irrelevant to his signing ten contracts without correcting the improper lane designation. Regardless of whether smaller school districts placed teachers on higher salary lanes to compete with large school districts, Ashby proffered no testimony to establish that the School District did in fact intentionally place Ashby on a higher track during the 1986-87 term or the following nine school years for that reason. And even if Ashby would have been able to prove that the School District used his dishonesty as a mere pretext for firing him, he never explained to the trial court why such proof was relevant to his breach of contract claim. Evidence of pretext was irrelevant to the only legal theory that Ashby pled or clearly articulated below -- that is, that the School District breached his employment contract by terminating based on the false allegation that he misrepresented his credentials. Nor has he provided any such explanation in his opening brief on this appeal. Because Ashby's proffer thus had no relevance to his narrow claim that the School District breached his employment contract by firing him based on a false allegation of dishonesty, the district court correctly dismissed Ashby's complaint.

---

<sup>7</sup>By Ashby's own admission, the allegation of dishonesty supporting his termination was in fact true. Ashby could not have negated his admission of dishonesty without impeaching his own testimony, which would also have then called into question all of his self-serving testimony, throwing his case into chaos.

Additionally, although Rule 41(b) contains language suggesting that a motion to dismiss would not normally be granted until after plaintiff has concluded his case in chief, the obvious futility of Ashby's case weighs heavily in favor of the district court's decision to preserve judicial economy by avoiding additional unnecessary time in trial. Ashby concedes the general proposition that the language of Rule 41(b) does not necessarily preclude a dismissal midway through a plaintiff's case, as long as there is good reason. Further, the trend in federal authority supports the district court's decision to dismiss Ashby's case when the futility of continuing the trial is apparent. Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(b) was amended in 1991 to delete the phrase limiting a motion to dismiss to after a plaintiff concluded his case in chief. Even before this amendment, several cases illustrate the federal trend to allow dismissal midway through a plaintiff's case in situations similar to the present case where the futility of continuing with the trial was apparent. A Fourth Circuit case affirmed a trial court's dismissal of a case *after opening statements* when plaintiff's opening statement revealed beyond question the absence of a valid claim and the futility of a trial. Tuck v. Chesapeake & Ohio R.R. Co., 251 F.2d 180 (4th Cir. 1958). The First Circuit affirmed a dismissal midway through a plaintiff's case in chief when it became apparent that the only witness who could establish a material fact did not have personal knowledge of that fact. D.P. Apparel Corp. v. Roadway Express, 736 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1984). Moreover, because Ashby could not have prevailed even if he had been allowed to present his evidence as proffered, he suffered no prejudice from the district court's decision to grant the motion to dismiss and any error was harmless. Price v. Armour, 949 P.2d 1251, 1255 (Utah 1997).

## Conclusion

Ashby's admission of dishonesty warranted dismissal of his case because it negated an essential element of his breach of contract claim, namely that he was fired based on a false allegation that he misrepresented his credentials. Because this was not a jury proceeding, the district court properly weighed Ashby's testimony, ultimately finding that his admission defeated his breach of contract claim because it showed that the allegation of Ashby's dishonesty was true. Because the evidence in Ashby's proffer was irrelevant to his limited claim that he was fired based on a false allegation, the district court correctly concluded that Ashby could not prevail breach of contract claim even if he were allowed to finish his case in chief. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the district court's dismissal of this case.